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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT CALIFORNIA 

 
 
 

 

LORA AND CLAY WOLPH, on behalf of 
themselves and all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

ACER AMERICA CORPORATION, a 
California corporation, 

Defendant. 

 
 

CASE NO.: CV-09-01314 JSW 
 

SECOND AMENDED CLASS 
ACTION COMPLAINT  

 
   DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

 

Plaintiffs Lora and Clay Wolph (“Plaintiffs”) allege the following on behalf of themselves 

and all others similarly situated: 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs bring this action for monetary damages, declaratory and 

equitable relief, and restitution and/or disgorgement of profits on behalf of themselves and all 

similarly-situated individuals and entities Nationwide (the “Class”) who have purchased an Acer 

notebook computer (“Notebook”) from Acer or an Authorized Acer Reseller, for personal or 

business use and not for resale, that came bundled and pre-installed with a Microsoft® Windows 

Vista Home Premium, Business, or Ultimate operating system (collectively referred to herein as 

“Vista Premium”) and containing 1024 megabytes (“MB”) or 1 gigabyte (“GB”) of Random 

Access Memory (“RAM”) or less as shared memory for both the system and graphics (“Defective 

Notebooks”).  

2. Per Microsoft, the minimum system requirements for  notebooks pre-

installed with Vista Premium require access to at least 1 GB of system RAM plus 128MB of 

RAM dedicated to the graphics adaptor to run properly.  Most computer manufacturers and 

professionals recommend at least 2 GB of RAM to effectively run Vista Premium.  Acer’s 

Defective Notebooks contain only 1 GB of RAM total, to be shared between the system and 

graphics, thus leaving only approximately 750MB of system memory to run the Vista Premium 

operating system.   

3. Acer’s Defective Notebooks are materially defective in that they do not 

contain enough RAM to properly run Vista Premium (the “Defect”) despite being promoted and 

sold as a bundled product of both a notebook computer and a  Vista Premium operating system.  

As a result, the Defective Notebooks experience serious problems, including, but not limited to, 

freezing during use, crashing, requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times.   

4. The Defect exists in the Defective Notebooks at the time of sale.  The 

installation of additional memory is necessary to repair the problem and in order for the Defective 

Notebooks to run as designed, marketed, promoted, advertised, warranted, and/or sold.  Because 

the Defective Notebooks are pre-installed with Vista Premium, along with drivers and other 

materials devoted exclusively to running on that operating system, Plaintiffs cannot install 

another operating system, such as Windows XP, without experiencing other significant 
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difficulties.  Moreover, Plaintiffs would have had to purchase an additional operating system at 

their own expense as Acer refuses to provide alternative operating systems to consumers with 

Defective Notebooks. 

5. Acer has been designing, marketing, promoting, advertising, warranting 

and/or selling Defective Notebooks that it knew or should have known were inherently defective 

since Microsoft first released Vista Premium in January of 2007. 

6. As a direct result of Acer’s acts and omissions, Plaintiffs and thousands 

of others across the United States have been damaged and suffered economic loss and bring 

claims for violations of the Consumer Legal Remedies Acts (Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1750, et seq.), the 

Unfair Competition Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 & 17500, et seq.), breach of express 

warranty, and the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act.  

 

II. PARTIES 

7. Plaintiffs Lora and Clay Wolph reside in Fostoria, Seneca County, 

Ohio.  They purchased an Acer Aspire 4520-5458 Notebook in or around April 2008, for 

approximately $586.36 from Wal-Mart.  Shortly after their purchase, and well within the one year 

warranty period, Plaintiffs discovered that their computer would not run properly and that it 

experienced numerous “crashes,” “freezing,” and was operating very slowly. 

8. Plaintiffs’ Acer Aspire Notebook was defective and deceptively 

marketed, advertised and promoted.  Plaintiffs’ notebook was designed, marketed, promoted, 

advertised, warranted, and/or sold by Acer and came bundled and pre-installed with a Vista 

Premium operating system, yet contained inadequate memory to run this operating system. 

9. Plaintiffs believed and detrimentally relied on Acer’s representations 

that their Defective Notebook could effectively and adequately run with a Vista Premium 

operating system, met the recommended minimum system requirements for running Vista 

Premium, and that Acer warranted the products to be free from defects in material.   

10. Acer failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks did not comply 

with Microsoft’s recommended minimum system requirements for running Vista Premium; that 
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the memory in its Defective Notebooks was shared between the system and graphics processor 

and was insufficient to run Vista Premium; and that Acer knew the Defective Notebooks could 

not effectively operate Vista Premium and would experience problems.  This is the type of 

fundamental information Plaintiffs would have been expected to rely on when purchasing the 

Defective Notebooks.  

11. All Acer computers come with a one year written, express warranty 

that extends to the original purchaser.  The “Limited Product Warranty” states: “Acer warrants 

the product you purchased from Acer or an Acer Authorized Reseller in the United States or 

Canada to be free from defects in materials or workmanship under normal use during the 

warranty period.” (Exhibit A).   

12. Consumers are directed to contact Acer via a service phone number or 

service website as opposed to a retailer to obtain warranty service.  Acer’s warranty states: 

Acer Service is here to help you.  Simply contact Acer Service by 

calling the number listed in the Warranty Reference Table above.  

Our Acer technicians will help you diagnose the issue.  If our 

technician believes the Product does or may exhibit a defect in 

material or workmanship within the warranty period, Acer will 

provide the warranty service applicable to the product.   

13. On September 5, 2008, as directed by Acer’s written warranty, 

Plaintiffs contacted Acer Technical Support via email to discuss the problems with their Acer 

notebook and seek a refund: 

Customer (Lora Wolph) - 09/05/2008 09:04 AM - This computer 

was sold with less than 1GB which means it cannot possibly run 

the Vista program that it came with.  I have had trouble with it 

since I got it and did not know what was wrong.  I finally had a 

tech person explain that it should not have been sold with less than 

1GB--it cannot run Vista with less.  It is not my fault that Vista 

came with this computer than cannot run the program. 
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14. One of Acer’s technicians (“Hal”) responded via e-mail on September 

5th, 2008:  

If the system does not run properly, please note that Windows 

Vista recommended requirements for the memory is 1 GB of 

system memory.  However, the minimum requirements is [sic] 512 

MB of memory in which your system is pre-installed with.  This 

means that the system is still able to run Windows Vista properly. 

15. In November 2008, after Acer rejected Plaintiffs’ attempts to seek a 

refund or repair under the warranty, Plaintiffs paid $157.40 to add additional RAM so that their 

notebook would run as designed, marketed, advertised, promoted and/or warranted by Acer.  

After purchasing and installing the additional memory, Plaintiffs no longer experienced the 

problems with their computer caused by Acer’s use of insufficient memory materials. 

16. The technician who repaired Plaintiffs’ computers wrote an explanation 

of the work: 

This letter is an explanation of the work performed on your Acer 

Notebook at our shop as outlined on Invoice #3957-0.  The 

specifications of the computer from the factory show that it was 

shipped with 1GB DDR-2 of system memory.  As a technician/ 

engineer I felt this was inadequate system memory for a computer 

operating Windows Vista.  Especially since the video memory is 

shared with the system memory, leaving a useable 768MB of 

system memory.  Since the system memory was low, performance 

of windows was significantly decreased.  This is because Microsoft 

specifies Windows Vista needs at least 1GB of full system memory 

to operate properly.  The solution to this issue was to add 2GB 

more of system memory to make the computer fully functional.   

It is my conclusion that all Acer notebook computers do not meet 

most quality standards for computing.  I hope this letter gives you 
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a better understanding of your computer and the work performed.   

(Exhibit B). 

17. Plaintiffs would not have purchased their Defective Notebook if Acer 

had disclosed that the computer did not meet Microsoft’s recommended minimum system 

requirements for Vista Premium computers, could not effectively and adequately run Vista 

Premium as a result of insufficient memory, and/or would experience significant problems as a 

result of these material defects. 

18. Defendant Acer America Corp. is incorporated in California and has its 

principal place of business in San Jose, California.  Its products are marketed and sold under the 

brand name “Acer.”  The company does business throughout California and the United States 

directly and in concert with other agents, servants, partners, aiders and abettors, co-conspirators 

and/or joint venturers such as authorized retail stores.  Acer designed, marketed, promoted, 

advertised, and/or warranted its Defective Notebooks and then sold the Defective Notebooks 

through its agents, servants, partners, aiders and abettors, co-conspirators and/or joint venturers to 

Plaintiffs and thousands of others throughout California and the United States. 

 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has diversity jurisdiction over the claims asserted herein on 

behalf of this proposed nationwide class pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as amended by the Class 

Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”).  Jurisdiction is proper because (a) the amount in controversy in 

this class action exceeds five million dollars, exclusive of interest and costs; and (b) there is 

diversity of citizenship between Plaintiffs and Defendant.  

20. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) 

and (c) in that Acer resides in this district and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 

rise to the claims occurred in this district.   

21. A venue affidavit pursuant to California Civil Code § 1780(d) is 

attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
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IV. CHOICE OF LAW 

22. The product warranty accompanying Lora and Clay Wolph’s notebook 

specifies that “All product warranties and warranty options shall be governed exclusively by the 

laws of the State of California exclusive of its choice of law provisions.”  Given this choice of 

law provision, all of Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members’ warranty-related claims are governed by 

California law. 

23. California law also governs the non-warranty claims asserted herein by 

Plaintiffs and the Class Members.   

24. Upon information and belief, Acer’s acts and omissions discussed 

herein were orchestrated and implemented at Acer’s headquarters in California. 

25. California, which seeks to protect the rights and interests of California 

and other U.S. residents against a company doing business in California, has a greater interest in 

the claims of Plaintiffs and the Class Members than any other State.   

26. Application of California law with respect to Plaintiffs’ and the Class 

Members’ claims is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfair because California has significant 

contacts and a significant aggregation of contacts that create a state interest in the claims of the 

Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class.   

27. Acer has recognized the appropriateness of the application of California 

law to the Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ claims by virtue of its own choice of law provision in 

its warranty directing that California law should apply. 

 

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Acer Background 

28. Defendant Acer America Corp. is a subsidiary of Acer, Inc. (“AI”), a 

global corporation based in Taiwan. 

29. According to its website, AI spun-off its manufacturing operation “to 

focus its resources on developing technologically advanced, user-friendly solutions” and now 

refers to itself as a “branded PC vendor.”  AI transferred the related manufacturing assets and 
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liabilities to Wistron Corp. (“Wistron”).  In AI’s 2007 Annual Report, AI refers to Wistron as an 

“investee of the Company [AI] accounted for by equity method.” 

30. As such, Acer outsources all of its manufacturing to related third 

parties and Acer’s products are shipped from these suppliers direct to Acer’s channels, hubs or 

customers worldwide. 

31. Acer proclaims on its website: “Acer America Corporation designs and 

markets personal computing solutions for end-users who require reliability, enhanced productivity 

and greater value.  Acer America’s award-winning products include tablet PCs, desktop PCs, 

notebook computers, servers, displays and peripheral solutions for business, government, 

education and home users.” 

32. AI recorded $11.32 billion in revenues worldwide in 2006; its revenue 

from the first to third quarter of 2008 was $12.8 billion.  AI shipped over 4 million Notebooks in 

the U.S. in 2008. 

33.  AI is the third largest computer company in the world (by sales) after 

Hewlett Packard and Dell Inc., and the second largest marketer of notebook computers.  

 B. Notebook Computers 

34. A notebook (also known as a laptop) is a personal computer designed 

for mobile use small enough to sit on a consumer’s lap.  A notebook includes most of the 

components of a typical desktop computer, incorporating a display, a keyboard, a pointing device 

(a touchpad, also known as a trackpad, or a pointing stick) as well as a battery, into a single small 

and light unit. 

35. Notebooks, like any computers, require memory to function. 

36. Random Access Memory (“RAM”) is a form of computer data storage 

taking the form of integrated circuits that allows stored data to be accessed in any order (i.e., at 

random). 

37. Synchronous Dynamic RAM (“SDRAM”) is a term that is used to 

describe dynamic RAM that has a synchronous interface, meaning that it waits for a clock signal 

before responding to control inputs and is therefore synchronized with the computer’s system bus.   
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38. SDRAM is primarily used as the main memory in notebook computers.  

The RAM referred to herein in reference to Acer’s Defective Notebooks is SDRAM. 

39. Computers use RAM to store information for quick access later on, 

which is faster than constantly accessing information from the hard drive (the largest and slowest 

data storage device on a computer).  

40. Some computers have dedicated graphics RAM (RAM that is devoted 

to graphics memory and cannot be used as system memory), while others have shared RAM 

(RAM that can be used for either system memory or graphics memory). 

41. Acer’s Defective Notebooks discussed herein contain memory that is 

shared between graphics and system memory with no dedicated graphics RAM. 

42. Most notebook computers come bundled with an operating system so 

that the computer will function when the consumer takes the product out of the box.  An 

operating system provides the core aspect of a notebook computer’s functionality.   

43. An operating system serves as an interface between the computer’s 

hardware and applications; it is responsible for the management and coordination of activities and 

the sharing of the limited resources of the computer.  

44. The operating system also acts as a host for applications that are run on 

the machine.  As a host, one of the purposes of an operating system is to handle the details of the 

operation of the hardware.  This relieves application programs from having to manage these 

details. 

45. Thus, operating systems manage the hardware (such as the processor, 

memory, and disk space) and the applications (such as Microsoft Office Word, Adobe Acrobat, 

and Internet Explorer) that often run on computers.  

46. All of Acer’s Defective Notebooks are designed, marketed, promoted, 

advertised, warranted, and/or sold with a pre-installed, Vista Premium operating system.  

Consumers pay for this product as an integrated package bundled by Acer and are not able to 

purchase these notebooks without the Vista Premium operating system. 
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 C. Microsoft Vista Premium Operating Systems 

47. The Microsoft Vista operating system was introduced to the market in 

January of 2007. 

48. Microsoft developed four editions of Windows Vista for use by original 

equipment manufacturers (“OEM”), such as Acer, and consumers.  Windows Vista Home Basic 

is intended for budget users with low needs.  Windows Vista Home Premium covers the majority 

of the consumer market, and contains additional applications for creating and using multimedia.  

Windows Vista Business is specifically designed for small and medium-sized businesses.  

Windows Vista Ultimate contains the complete feature-set of both the Home and Business 

editions, as well as a set of Windows Ultimate Extras, and is aimed at enthusiasts.  Home 

Premium, Business, and Ultimate contain the same recommended minimum system requirements, 

contain many of the same premium features, and are collectively referred to herein as “Vista 

Premium.” 

49. While a notebook computer needs, at a minimum, 512MB of RAM just 

to install Windows Vista (whether Basic or Premium), the additional elements of Windows Vista 

Premium, such as the Aero Glass interface (a key component of Vista Premium) and the Media 

Center, cannot function without additional memory.  As such, Microsoft provides “recommended 

minimum system requirements” for Vista Premium so that users can experience the full 

functionality of the operating system and all of its components without experiencing problems 

with their computers. 

50. Acer has publicly acknowledged that the Windows Vista Basic features 

that a user would get with 512 MB of RAM are not the same as Vista Premium: 

Acer claims that the Vista Home Basic - the new entry-level 

Windows - is so poorly featured that consumers will simply reject 

it. ‘The new [Vista] experience you hear of, if you get Basic, you 

won’t feel it at all,’ said Jim Wong, senior corporate vice president 

at Acer. ‘There’s no [Aero] graphics, no Media Center, no remote 

control.’ Wong claims that Microsoft’s own marketing machine 
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has undermined Vista Home Basic. ‘Right at the beginning they 

started talking about the experience of [Vista Home] Premium. 

Premium is the real Vista,’ he said.1 

51. Microsoft’s “Recommended minimum hardware requirements” for 

Vista Premium, Business, and Ultimate, which Microsoft describes as “the recommended 

minimum hardware requirements for basic functionality of the different editions of Windows 

Vista” are:     

* 1-gigahertz (GHz) 32-bit (x86) processor or 1-GHz 64-bit (x64) 

processor 

* 1 GB of system memory 

* Windows Aero-capable graphics card 

Note This includes a DirectX 9-class graphics card that supports the 

following: 

 o A WDDM driver 

 o Pixel Shader 2.0 in hardware 

 o 32 bits per pixel  

* 128 MB of graphics memory (minimum) 

* 40-GB hard disk that has 15 GB of free hard disk space (the 15GB of 

free space provides room for temporary file storage during the install or 

upgrade.) 

* Internal or external DVD drive 

* Internet access capability 

* Audio output capability2 

52. With regard to Microsoft Windows Vista Basic (not the Vista Premium 

versions at issue herein), Microsoft makes an allowance for shared system and graphics memory: 

“On system configurations that use system memory as graphics memory, at least 448 MB of 

                                                 
1   “PC maker fumes at Vista price hike,” PC Pro, (October 26, 2006). 
2   http://support.microsoft.com/kb/919183 (emphasis added). 
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system memory must be available to the operating system after some memory is allocated for 

graphics.”3   

53. No such shared memory allowance is made for Vista Premium, 

Business, and Ultimate which require, at a minimum, 1 GB of system memory and 128 MB of 

graphics memory. 

54. According to most computer professionals, a computer with Vista 

actually needs at least 2 GB of RAM to run properly.   

55. As a Computer World article noted:  

Configuring a PC around the minimum hardware requirements of 

an application or operating system is [a] lot like agreeing to live in 

a basement apartment.  Sure, it will work as a place to live -- if you 

don’t mind damp and dim living conditions.  Such may be the case 

for Windows Vista’s minimum requirement of 512MB of RAM.  

Microsoft’s on-the-box minimum RAM requirement ‘really isn’t 

realistic,’ according to David Short, an IBM consultant who works 

in its company’s Global Services Division. He says users should 

consider 4GB of RAM if they really want optimum Vista 

performance.  With 512MB of RAM, Vista will deliver 

performance that’s ‘sub-XP,’ he warned. . . . Dell recommends 

2GB of system memory . . . .  Mueez Deen, director of graphics 

memory and consumer DRAM at Samsung Electronics, also 

recommends 2GB of RAM, calling that amount the ‘optimal 

density for the complete Vista experience -- economically and 

technologically.’4 

56. Pcstats.com ran several comprehensive memory tests involving Vista 

and published an article titled, “Microsoft Windows Vista: How Much Memory is Enough?”  

                                                 
3   Id. 
4   Patrick Thibodeau, “Buying a new PC? ‘Windows Vista Capable’ barely hits the mark,” Computer World 
(February 20, 2007).   
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Using a desktop computer with a graphics card containing a dedicated 256 MB of RAM, 

Pcstats.com configured the computer with separate system memory in 512 MB, 1 GB, 2 GB, and 

4 GB increments to determine how the varying system memory amounts would impact the 

computer’s ability to run Vista Ultimate.5 

57. Pcstats.com found that a computer with 512 MB of system memory and 

a 256 MB dedicated graphics card (less than Microsoft’s recommended minimum requirements 

for Vista Premium) would exhibit poor performance and not function properly: 

2GB of RAM is generally considered the sweet spot for Windows 

Vista. . . .  With 512MB of memory Vista crawls.  Even in 2D 

office/workstation style work there was a noticeable lag.  

Microsoft's Windows Experience Index was particularly hard, 

scoring just 1.7 points.  Not very impressive.  What the 

benchmarks don't say though was how laggy simple Windows tasks 

were... we could hear the HDD chugging away accessing the 

swapfile.6 

58. Acer’s Defective Notebook computers, which have a total of 1024 MB 

RAM and dedicate approximately 256 MB of memory to graphics, are left with only 768 MB of 

system memory to run the operating system.  These Defective Notebooks are comparable to 

Pcstats.com’s computer with 512 MB of system memory and 256 MB of graphics memory (or 

768 MB of total system and graphics memory) as neither meet Microsoft’s recommended 

minimum system requirements. 

59. Despite the fact that numerous computer professionals recommend at 

least 2 GB of RAM to run Vista Premium in addition to dedicated graphics memory, Acer 

routinely designs, market, promotes, advertises, warrants, and/or sells computers bundled with 

Vista Premium operating systems that fail to meet even Microsoft’s recommended minimum 

system requirements and fails to disclose this material fact to consumers. 

                                                 
5   http://www.pcstats.com/articleview.cfm?articleID=2163 
6   Id. (emphasis added). 
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 D. Acer’s Defective Notebook Computers and Deceptive Business Practices 

60. Upon information and belief, Acer has been designing, marketing, 

promoting, advertising, warranting, and/or selling notebooks that fail to meet Microsoft’s 

recommended minimum system requirements for Vista Premium since Microsoft released Vista 

in  January of 2007. 

61. Acer’s notebooks that fail to meet Microsoft’s recommended minimum 

system requirements are materially defective as these computers have 1 GB or less of shared 

system memory, no dedicated graphics memory, and yet are bundled with a Microsoft Vista 

Premium operating system, pre-installed by Acer, and unable to adequately and properly function 

with that operating system. 

62.  Beginning with the release of Vista in January of 2007 and continuing 

through the present, Acer made affirmative and material misrepresentations about the Defective 

Notebooks upon which they intended Plaintiffs and consumers to rely and upon which Plaintiffs 

and consumers did rely.  

63. Acer misrepresented that its Defective Notebooks could effectively and 

adequately run with a Vista Premium operating system. 

64. On every Defective Notebook at issue, Acer placed a label on the 

outside of the box detailing the computer’s system specifications. (E.g., Exhibit D). These 

representations were available to Plaintiffs and every class member at the time of purchasing their 

computer. 

   a. Under “RAM,” Acer’s label detailed that the computer contained 

“1024 MB DDR2 RAM” (or 1GB of RAM or less).   

   b. Under “Softload,” Acer’s label detailed that the computer contained 

“Windows Vista®  Home Premium” (or a similar Vista Premium operating system). 

65. Acer’s product labels explicitly and implicitly represented that the 

Notebooks had adequate memory to run the Windows Vista Premium operating system that came 

with the computer.   By virtue of including Vista Premium pre-installed on every notebook 
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computer at issue herein, Acer also impliedly represented that the computer could adequately run 

the software and all of the features contained therein. 

66. Despite its knowledge that its computers failed to meet Windows 

Minimum Recommended System requirements, Acer touted (and continues to tout) Windows 

Vista Premium on its website (in several places) directed to consumers with messages that read: 

“Acer recommends Windows Vista® Business for Business Computing.  Acer recommends 

Windows Vista® Home Premium for Personal Computing.”  (Exhibit E)  

67. Acer further misrepresented that its Defective Notebooks met the 

recommended minimum system requirements for running Vista Premium. 

68. For example, in a reply to Plaintiffs’ email on September 5th, 2008, 

Acer’s service technician (Hal) stated: “[P]lease note that Windows Vista recommended 

requirements for the memory is 1 GB of system memory.  However, the minimum requirements 

is [sic] 512 MB of memory in which your system is pre-installed with.  This means that the 

system is still able to run Windows Vista properly.” 

69. Upon information and belief, Acer made these representations to other 

consumers and members of the class, as well, in response to service inquiries.  Acer also 

impliedly represented that the Defective Notebooks complied with Microsoft’s recommended 

minimum system requirements by including and installing Vista Premium on every computer at 

issue in this case. 

70. Acer’s statements are false and/or misleading. 

71. Microsoft’s “recommended system requirements” are 1 GB of system 

memory and 128 MB of graphics memory, at a minimum, not “1 GB of system memory.” 

72. While Microsoft’s “minimum supported system requirements” (those 

needed just to install the system on a computer) are 512 MB of RAM, a computer with 512 MB 

of RAM running Vista Premium will not be able to run Vista Premium properly and will 

experience a loss of functionality and other serious problems.  In particular, the important 

elements of Windows Vista Premium that distinguish the software from Windows Vista Basic 

(such as the Aero Glass feature and media center) will not operate on a computer with only 512 

Case3:09-cv-01314-JSW   Document130    Filed03/25/11   Page15 of 52

SA15



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

825092.1 - 16 -  
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT  

 

MB of RAM.  Further, as detailed herein, computers containing only 512 MB of total  RAM and 

attempting to run Windows Vista Premium will experience frequent problems such as freezing 

during use, crashing, requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times. 

73. Acer’s material misrepresentations imposed an affirmative duty on 

Acer to disclose additional material information to Plaintiffs and Class Members.   

74. Acer concealed and/or failed to disclose material information about its 

Defective Notebooks upon which they intended Plaintiffs and consumers to rely and upon which 

Plaintiffs and consumers did rely.  

75. Despite labeling its Notebooks with statements that the Computers 

contained 1024 MB of RAM and Windows Vista Premium, Acer concealed and/or failed to 

disclose that its Defective Notebooks did not meet the recommended minimum system 

requirements for operating Vista Premium which had an additional minimum requirement of 128 

MB of graphics RAM. 

76. Despite labeling its Notebooks with statements that the Computers 

contained 1024 MB of RAM, Acer failed to disclose that the 1024 MB of RAM are shared 

between memory and graphics leaving only approximately 750 MB of RAM to run the Windows 

Vista operating system.  Thus, even if a consumer was aware of the recommended minimum 

system requirements for Vista Premium, Acer’s label failed to disclose that the 1024 MB of 

memory was shared and inadequate to run the operating system. 

77. Despite the knowledge that consumers, such as Plaintiffs, were 

experiencing numerous problems with their Defective Notebooks as a result of inadequate 

memory, Acer concealed and/or failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks could not 

effectively and adequately run with Vista Premium. 

78. Despite the knowledge that consumers, such as Plaintiffs, were 

experiencing numerous problems with their Defective Notebooks as a result of inadequate 

memory, Acer failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks running Vista Premium would 

experience serious problems, including, but not limited to, freezing during use, crashing, 
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requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times, well before their warranted or 

expected useful life.   

79. Despite knowledge of the Defect, Acer failed to disclose the Defect to 

its customers.   

80. Acer’s warranty provides that “Acer warrants the Product you have 

purchased from Acer or from an Acer Authorized Reseller in the United States or Canada to be 

free from defects in materials or workmanship under normal use during the warranty period.”  

81. Acer fails to meet its warranted quality of being free from defects in 

material, as its Defective Notebooks do not have the requisite amount of RAM material to run 

properly, making the computers experience significant problems far before their warranted or 

expected useful life.  The Defect is solvable only if the consumers spend additional money to add 

RAM. 

82. Acer has refused to provide relief to Plaintiffs and thousands of other 

Class Members with Defective Notebooks that fail to perform as marketed, promoted, advertised, 

warranted and/or sold. 

83. Acer’s acts and omissions as outlined herein were false, deceptive 

and/or unfair.  Acer engaged in these acts and omissions with the intent that consumers, such as 

Plaintiffs and Class Members, rely upon them. 

84. Plaintiffs and Class Members have been harmed and suffered direct 

economic loss as a result of Acer’s acts and omissions.  Plaintiffs and Class Members purchased 

notebooks that failed to perform as marketed, promoted, advertised, warranted, and/or sold by 

Acer, did not get what they paid for, and have incurred or will incur hundreds of dollars in 

damages to replace or repair their Defective Notebooks.  

 E. Consumer Complaints 

85. Numerous consumers have complained about Acer’s Defective 

Notebooks and problems such as freezing, restarting, and slow operations.   The following are 

examples of these complaints: 
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86. “Hi guys, I bought a new acer notebook today and it came preinstalled 

with vista.  I got the acer aspire 5610-2328, intel pentium dual core processor, and it has a lot of 

space 120 gb, and 1gb [of RAM] so I know space is not a  problem. I’ve only been using it for a 

couple of hours and it has already FROZEN 5 times. Yes 5 times. The last time, it froze right 

after it finished booting.”7 

87. “I have an ACER Aspire 4720 laptop. Intel Core 2 Duo with a T7300 

2.0 ghz chip. 1 gig of RAM. It is driving Vista home premium and doing it veeerrry slowly.  Any 

ideas?”8 

88. “I got an Acer Aspire 3100 which came with Vista installed. Vista was 

too heavy for it and it was so slow that it was making my work hard.”9 

89. “My new acer laptop 5050 is extremely slow!  Haven’t had any luck 

getting it to respond normally, maybe I just don’t know Vista home premium!  Takes almost 10 

minutes to shut down!  Several minutes to load anything!  Haven’t installed but two programs on 

it. Print Artist 22 platinum and Embarq security virus program.  AMD ATHELON CHIP 64X2 

120 G HD.1G DDR2 MEM. [RAM] 802.11b/g WLAN VISTA HOME PREMIUM.  Maybe I 

should reformat and inst a copy of win XP prof. !  Any ideas?”10 

90. “Hi there...i just bought acer aspire 4310 and using windows vista... but 

the problem is its running very slow and always hang up, i cant work on anything... anybody who 

can help me with my problem?”11 

91. “I bought a ACER 4210.  It is so slow it cannot keep up with my typing 

and I am always going back to insert missed letters.  It is running Vista.  Would going to XP fix 

this or is it the slow processor in it.  Or is it the Acer control centre which insists on taking 45 

secs to load every time I start it. It isn’t very old but it frustrates the hell out of me.  I have ditched 

                                                 
7  http://forums.techarena.in/vista-help/697965.htm 
8  http://www.computerforum.com/127074-slow-acer-laptop-vista.html 
9  http://forums.techguy.org/windows-vista-7/600485-vista-acer-notebook-no-good.html 
10  http://forum.worldstart.com/showthread.php?t=128266 
11  http://www.notebookforums.com/showthread.php?p=2676182 
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Norton for AVG.- but cannot seem to remove norton fully.  Years ago I had an XT that didn’t 

require this ‘reediting’.”12 

92. “Hello all  I purchased a Acer Genuine Intel CPU T1350 @ 1.86 gig 

with 1 gig ram . . . . It came with vista home premium.  I don't mind vista but it takes 3 – 5 

minutes for my notebook to load and general tasks are slow to run, even web browsers takes 10 to 

20 seconds to wake up...”13 

93. “How do I speed up 1Gb RAM Vista laptop?  I’ve just bought my 

partner a new laptop, couldn’t get a model and spec I wanted without Vista though.  It arrived 

yesterday and I am amazed at how slow Vista is. The laptop (Acer Aspire 5710) is no rocket but 

task manager shows that 800Mb of memory from it’s 1Gb [of RAM] is being used and that’s just 

with the browser running.  It’s even slower than the XP powered 700Mhz PIII it replaces which 

has only 256Mb of slow RAM.”14 

94. “My husband bought me this acer for christmas in 12-17-07, and my 

warranty just ran out 12-17-08. I have had problems with my computer shutting down and 

restarting on its own since the second month ive owned it. I called acer tech support many times 

and was bounced back and forth, meaning I was told it was many different things wrong with 

system, and my internet connection, I had my internet bellsouth tech come to my house and test 

the line and it wasnt the problem. . . .  Its had issues since the begaining. My money wasnt 

broken, or fake. not only that, vista is a problem in itself. I just feel like i got robbed.”15 

VI. TOLLING 

95. Because the defective nature of the Defective Notebooks is concealed, 

Plaintiffs and the Class Members were not reasonably able to discover the Defect until after their 

purchase and use of Acer’s Defective Notebook, despite their exercise of due diligence. 

                                                 
12  http://answers.yahoo.com/question/index?qid=20080111100648AAEzZvi 
13  http://forums.whirlpool.net.au/forum-replies-archive.cfm/1141369.html 
14  http://forums.techguy.org/windows-vista-7/642719-how-do-i-speed-up.html 
15  http://www.consumeraffairs.com/computers/acer.html 
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96. Acer knew of the Defect prior to the time of sale, and concealed that 

material information from Plaintiffs and all consumers.  Any applicable statutes of limitation 

have, therefore, been tolled by Acer’s concealment of material facts.   

97. Acer is estopped from relying on any statutes of limitation because of 

its concealment of the Defect. 

 

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

98. Plaintiffs Lora and Clay Wolph bring this lawsuit as a class action on 

behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated consumers as members of a proposed Class 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.   

99. Based upon the allegations of this Complaint, this action satisfies the 

requirements for class certification.  

100. The Class is defined as: 

All persons and entities who reside in the United States who have 

purchased, and have not returned for refund, a new Acer notebook 

computer from Acer or an Acer Authorized Reseller, not for resale, 

that came pre-installed with a Microsoft® Windows Vista Home 

Premium, Business, or Ultimate operating system, and contained 

1GB of Random Access Memory or less as shared memory for 

both the system and graphics.   

101. The following Persons shall be excluded from the Class: (1) Acer and 

its subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and employees; (2) all Persons who make a timely election to 

be excluded from the proposed Class; (3) governmental entities; and (4) the judge(s) to whom this 

case is assigned and any immediate family members thereof.   

102. Plaintiffs reserve the right to re-define the Class prior to certification. 

103. Although the exact number of Class Members is uncertain and can only 

be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs are informed and reasonably believe the 

number of Class Members is in the thousands, such that joinder is impracticable.   
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104. The Class is composed of an easily ascertainable, self-identifying set of 

individuals and entities who purchased Acer’s Defective Notebooks. 

105. There is a well-defined community of interest among the proposed 

Class Members, and the disposition of all their claims in a single action will provide substantial 

benefits to all parties and to the Court. 

106. The claims of the representative Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of 

the Class Members in that the representative Plaintiffs, like all Class Members, purchased an 

Acer Defective Notebook, which Acer had misrepresented its characteristics and capabilities and 

did not have the requisite amount of RAM to adequately run Vista Premium -  operating system  

installed.  

107. The representative Plaintiffs, like all Class Members, have been 

damaged by Defendant’s misconduct in that they did not get what they paid for and have incurred 

or will incur the cost of repairing or replacing the Defective Notebooks.   

108. The factual bases for Acer’s misconduct are common to all Class 

Members and represent a common thread of wrongdoing resulting in injury to all members of the 

Class. 

109. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  

They have retained counsel with substantial experience in prosecuting consumer class actions, 

and specifically actions involving defective products.   

110. Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to prosecuting this action 

vigorously on behalf of the Class, and have the financial resources to do so.  Neither Plaintiffs nor 

their counsel have any interests adverse to those of the Class. 

111. Plaintiffs and the Class Members have all suffered and will continue to 

suffer harm and damages as a result of Acer’s unlawful and wrongful conduct.   

112. The prosecution of separate actions by thousands of individual Class 

Members would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual 

Class Members, thus establishing incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.  
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113. The prosecution of separate actions by individual Class Members 

would also create the risk of adjudications with respect to them that would, as a practical matter, 

be dispositive of the interests of the other Class Members who are not a party to such 

adjudications and would substantially impair or impede the ability of such non-party Class 

Members to protect their interests.  

114. Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally 

applicable to the entire Class, thereby making appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief 

with respect to the Class as a whole. 

115. There are numerous questions of law and fact common to Plaintiffs and 

the Class that predominate over any questions that may affect individual Class Members, and 

include the following: 

a. Whether Acer notebooks pre-installed with Vista Premium and only 1 

GB of RAM total, to be shared between the system and graphics, are 

defective;  

b. Whether Acer knew or should have known of the inherent material 

defect in the Defective Notebooks; 

c. Whether Acer misrepresented that its Defective Notebooks met the 

recommended minimum system requirements for running Vista 

Premium; 

d. Whether Acer misrepresented that its Defective Notebooks could 

effectively and adequately run with the Vista Premium operating 

system; 

f. Whether Acer had an affirmative duty to disclose omitted information 

to Plaintiffs and Class Members; 

g. Whether Acer failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks did not 

meet the recommended minimum system requirements for Vista 

Premium; 
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h. Whether Acer failed to disclose that the 1 GB of memory in its 

Defective Notebooks was shared with graphics memory leaving 

insufficient memory to run Vista Premium; 

i. Whether Acer failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks could not 

effectively and adequately run with Vista Premium; 

j. Whether Acer failed to disclose that its Defective Notebooks running 

Vista Premium would experience serious problems, including, but not 

limited to, freezing during use, crashing, requiring frequent restarts, and 

experiencing slow load times, well before their warranted or expected 

useful life; 

k. Whether Acer misrepresented that its products had certain qualities, 

characteristics or benefits; 

l. Whether Acer represented that its products were of a particular 

standard, quality or grade when they were not and/or when Acer knew 

or should have known that they are of another standard, quality or 

grade; 

m. Whether Acer advertised and/or offered for sale products that were 

defective without clearly and unequivocally indicating that the products 

were defective and/or with intent not to sell them as advertised; 

n. Whether the facts Acer misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose 

were material; 

o. Whether Acer intended Plaintiffs and Class Members to rely on its 

misrepresentations or omissions of material facts; 

p. Whether as a result of Acer’s misrepresentation and/or concealment of 

material facts, Plaintiffs and the Class acted to their detriment by 

purchasing Acer Notebooks; 
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q. Whether Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered a loss as the result of 

Acer’s failure to disclose, concealment and/or misrepresentation of 

material facts;   

r. Whether Acer’s conduct in advertising and selling Acer products 

constitutes a violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act, 

Civ. Code §§ 1750, et seq.; 

s. Whether Acer’s conduct in advertising and selling Acer products 

constitutes a violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & 

Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq.; 

t. Whether Acer’s conduct in advertising and selling Acer products 

constitutes a violation of California’s False Advertising  Law, Bus. & 

Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq.; 

u. Whether Acer created express warranties regarding its product; 

v. Whether Acer should be declared financially responsible for notifying 

all Class Members of the problems with Acer products and for the costs 

and expenses of repair and/or replacement of all such products; 

w. Whether Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to compensatory, 

exemplary and statutory damages, and the amount of such damages; 

and 

x. Whether Acer should be ordered to disgorge, for the benefit of the 

Class, all or part of the ill-gotten profits it received from the sale of defective Acer 

products, and/or to make full restitution to Plaintiffs and the Class Members. 

116. Given, (i) the substantive complexity of this litigation; (ii) the size of 

individual Class Members’ claims; and (iii) the limited resources of the Class Members, few, if 

any, Class Members could afford to seek legal redress individually for the wrongs Defendant has 

committed against them. 

117. Class treatment of common questions of law and fact would also be 

superior to multiple individual actions or piecemeal litigation in that class treatment will foster an 
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orderly and expeditious administration of Class claims, economies of time, effort and expense, 

and uniformity of decision. 

118. This action presents no difficulty that would impede the Court’s 

management of it as a class action, and a class action is the best and/or the only available means 

by which members of the Class can seek legal redress for the harm caused by Defendants. 

119. Absent a class action, Class Members will continue to incur damages 

and Acer’s misconduct will continue without remedy.   

120. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

121. The issues common to Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members’ claims, some 

of which are identified above, are alternatively certifiable pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4) as 

resolution of these issues would materially advance the litigation, and class resolution of these 

issues is superior to repeated litigation of these issues in separate trials.    

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of the Consumer Legal Remedies Acts, Civ. Code §§ 1750, et seq.) 

122. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

123. Acer is a “person” as defined by Cal. Civil Code § 1761(c). 

124. Plaintiffs and the Class Members are “consumers” within the meaning 

of Cal. Civil Code § 1761(d). 

125. The affected Defective Notebooks are “goods” within the meaning of 

Cal. Civil Code § 1761(a). 

126. Plaintiffs’ purchase of Acer products constituted “transactions” as that 

term is defined in Cal. Civil Code § 1761(e). 

127. Acer's acts and omission alleged herein violated CLRA § 1770(a)(5)’s 

proscription against representing that goods have uses, characteristics or benefits they do not 

actually have; 1770(a)(7)'s proscription against representing that goods are of a particular 
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standard, quality or grade when they are of another; and 1770(a)(9)'s proscription against 

advertising goods with an intent not to sell them as advertised.  

128. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present Acer misrepresented to Plaintiffs and Class Members, in its advertising, warranties, and 

representations that: (a) its Defective Notebooks met the recommended minimum system 

requirements for running Vista Premium; (b) its Defective Notebooks could effectively and 

adequately run with a Vista Premium operating system; and (c) the Defective Notebooks would 

be warranted against defects in materials and workmanship for one year.  

129. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present, Acer omitted, failed to disclose and/or concealed the material facts that: (a) its Defective 

Notebooks did not meet the recommended minimum system requirements for Vista Premium; (b) 

the 1 GB of memory in its Defective Notebooks was shared with graphics memory leaving 

insufficient memory to run Vista Premium; (c) its Defective Notebooks could not effectively and 

adequately run with Vista Premium; and (d) its Defective Notebooks running Vista Premium 

would experience serious problems, including, but not limited to, freezing during use, crashing, 

requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times, well before their warranted or 

expected useful life.  Each of these material omissions were contrary to Acer's affirmative 

representations regarding the quality and nature of the Defective Notebooks. 

130. The facts that Acer failed to disclose, concealed and/or misrepresented 

are material in that reasonable consumers would consider them important in deciding whether or 

not to purchase (or to pay the same price for) Acer notebooks.  Had Plaintiffs and the Class 

known the defective nature of the notebooks, they would not have purchased the Defective 

Notebooks or would have paid less for them. 

131. In failing to disclose the defective nature of the Defective Notebooks, 

Acer has knowingly and intentionally concealed material facts and breached its duty not to do so. 

132. Acer knew that its Defective Notebooks were defective, would 

experience significant problems within the one year warranty period, and were not fit for their 

intended use.  Acer was under a duty to disclose the defective nature of the Notebooks to 
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Plaintiffs and the Class Members because Acer affirmatively misrepresented material facts about 

its Defective Notebooks. 

133. Acer’s concealment and deceptive practices, in violation of the CLRA, 

were designed to and did induce Plaintiffs and the Class Members to purchase Acer products.   

134. A reasonable consumer would expect the Acer notebooks to function 

properly for at least one year, the length of Acer’s warranty, if not longer.   

135. Acer performed the acts herein alleged in connection with the design, 

marketing, advertisement, warranty and/or sale of the Defective Notebooks with the knowledge 

and intent to defraud and deceive Plaintiff and members of the Class.  

136. To this day, Acer continues to violate the CLRA by misrepresenting 

and concealing the defective nature of its Defective Notebooks and by failing or refusing to reveal 

to the Class Members that the cause of the problems with Acer’s Defective Notebooks is an 

inherent defect in materials and not a result of improper use or maintenance.   

137. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated, demand 

judgment against Acer under the CLRA for injunctive relief, restitution, and/or disgorgement of 

funds paid to Acer to purchase the Acer Defective Notebooks, and/or disgorgement of funds 

received by Acer to repair or replace the Defective Notebooks, and/or an injunction requiring 

Acer to repair or replace the Acer Defective Notebooks free of charge, and an award of attorneys’ 

fees.   

138. Plaintiffs submitted a CLRA notice letter to Acer’s counsel on 

February 4, 2009, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit F.  Acer has failed to provide 

appropriate relief for its violations of CLRA §§ 1770(a)(5), (7) and (9) within 30 days of receipt 

of Plaintiffs’ notification, in accordance with Civ. Code § 1782(b).  Plaintiffs are therefore 

entitled, under CLRA § 1780, to recover or obtain any of the following relief for Acer’s 

violations of CLRA §§ 1770(a)(5), (7) and (9):  

a. actual damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(1);  

b. punitive damages under Civ. Code Section 1780(a)(4);  

c. attorneys’ fees and costs under Civ. Code Section 1780(d); and  
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d. any other relief the Court deems proper under Civ. Code Section 

1780(a)(5). 

 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Breach of Express Warranty) 

139. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

140. Acer’s warranty provides: “Acer warrants the Product you have 

purchased from Acer or from an Acer Authorized Reseller in the United States or Canada to be 

free from defects in materials or workmanship under normal use during the warranty period.” 

141. The written warranty provided by Acer was a part of the basis of the 

bargain for Plaintiffs and the Class Members in purchasing or acquiring the Acer products. 

142. Acer’s written warranty directed that Plaintiffs and Class Members 

seeking relief under the warranty contact Acer’s service department.  Acer’s warranty placed the 

Plaintiffs and Class Members in a direct vertical privity and contractual relationship with Acer. 

143. Alternatively, Plaintiffs and Class Members were third-party 

beneficiaries to the warranty and are in a direct privity relationship as a result. 

144. Acer’s written warranty was made expressly for the benefit of Plaintiffs 

and Class Members (the ultimate consumers) and not for the retailers who sold Acer’s Defective 

Notebooks.   

145. Acer has breached its expressed warranty to Plaintiffs and Class 

Members in that the Acer notebooks were materially defective from the day they were sold and 

will not function properly, displaying serious problems such as freezing during use, crashing, 

requiring frequent restarts, experiencing slow load times, and other manifestations of the Defect, 

within the warranted period of one year from the date of purchase. 

146. Any contractual language contained in Acer’s express warranty that 

attempts to limit remedies or the period within which to bring claims is unconscionable, fails to 
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conform to the requirements for limiting remedies under applicable law, causes the warranties to 

fail of their essential purpose, and is, thus, unconscionable and void. 

147. Acer has been put on notice of its breach of express warranties by 

Plaintiffs and Class Members through notice provided by Plaintiffs and Class Members prior to 

the filing of this Complaint. 

148. As a direct result of the failure of the Acer products to perform as 

expressly warranted, Plaintiffs and the Class Members have incurred and will continue to incur 

expenses to repair or replace the Defective Notebooks.  

149. As a result of Acer’s breach of express warranties, Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class have been injured and are entitled to equitable/injunctive relief and/or 

damages in a measure and amount which are to be determined at trial. 

 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301 et seq.) 

150. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

151. The Magnuson-Moss Consumer Products Warranties Act (“Magnuson 

Moss”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq., provides a private right of action by purchasers of consumer 

products against manufacturers or retailers who, inter alia, fail to comply with the terms of a 

written warranty.  15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(1).  As demonstrated above, Acer has failed to comply 

with the terms of its written warranty with regard to its Defective Notebooks. 

152. Acer’s Defective Notebooks are a consumer product as that term is 

defined in § 2301(a) of Magnuson-Moss. 

153. Acer is a warrantor, as that term is defined in § 2301(5) of Magnuson-

Moss.   

154. The Plaintiffs and each member of the Class are consumers, as that 

term is defined in § 2301(3) of Magnuson-Moss. 
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155. Acer had reasonable and adequate notice of Plaintiffs’ and the Class’ 

claims of breach of its express written warranty from the sale of Defective Notebooks, and was 

given a reasonable opportunity to cure its failure to comply with its  written warranty.  However, 

Acer never cured. 

156. As a result of Acer’s breach of its written warranty through the 

Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured and are 

entitled to equitable/injunctive relief and/or damages in a measure and amount which are to be 

determined at trial. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500 et seq. (False Advertising) 

157. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

158. Acer has engaged in and continues to engage in false advertising as it 

disseminated false and/or misleading statements regarding the Defective Notebooks. 

159. Acer knew or should have known by exercising reasonable care that its 

representations were false and/or misleading.   

160. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present, Acer engaged in false advertising in violation of the Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500 et seq., 

by misrepresenting in its advertising, marketing and other communications that: (a) its Defective 

Notebooks met the recommended minimum system requirements for running Vista Premium; (b) 

its Defective Notebooks could effectively and adequately run with a Vista Premium operating 

system; and (c) the Defective Notebooks would be warranted against defects in materials and 

workmanship for one year.  

161. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present, Acer engaged in false advertising in violation of the Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500 et seq. 

by omitting, failing to disclose and/or concealing the material facts that: (a) its Defective 

Notebooks did not meet the recommended minimum system requirements for Vista Premium; (b) 
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the 1 GB of memory in its Defective Notebooks was shared with graphics memory leaving 

insufficient memory to run Vista Premium; (c) its Defective Notebooks could not effectively and 

adequately run with Vista Premium; and (d) its Defective Notebooks running Vista Premium 

would experience serious problems, including, but not limited to, freezing during use, crashing, 

requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times, well before their warranted or 

expected useful life.  Each of these material omissions that were contrary to Acer's affirmative 

representations regarding the quality and nature of the Defective Notebooks. 

162. By disseminating and publishing these statements in connection with 

the sale of its goods, Acer has engaged and continue to engage in false advertising in violation of 

Bus.& Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq. 

163. As a direct and proximate result of Acer’s conduct, as set forth herein, 

Acer has received ill-gotten gains and/or profits, including, but not limited to money.  Therefore, 

Acer is unjustly enriched.  Pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, Plaintiffs request restitution 

and restitutionary disgorgement for all sums attained in violation of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, 

et seq. 

164. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief, restitution and restitutionary 

disgorgement of Acer’s ill-gotten gains as specifically provided in Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535. 

165. Plaintiff and Members of the Class seek to enjoin Acer from engaging 

in these wrongful practices as alleged herein, in the future.  There is no other adequate remedy at 

law and if an injunction is not ordered, Plaintiff and the Class will suffer irreparable harm and/or 

injury. 

 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 (the “Unfair Competition Law”) 

166. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

167. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 prohibits acts of “unfair competition.”  As 

used in this section, “unfair competition” encompasses three distinct types of misconduct: (a) 
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“any unlawful…business act or practice;” (b) “any… unfair or fraudulent business act or 

practice;” and (c) “any… unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising.” 

168. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present Acer, Acer disseminated false and misleading statements to Plaintiffs and the Class by 

misrepresenting that: (a) its Defective Notebooks met the recommended minimum system 

requirements for running Vista Premium; (b) its Defective Notebooks could effectively and 

adequately run with a Vista Premium operating system; and (c) its Defective Notebooks would be 

warranted against defects in materials and workmanship for one year.  

169. Beginning on or about January of 2007 and continuing through the 

present, Acer omitted, failed to disclose, and/or concealed the material facts that: (a) its Defective 

Notebooks did not meet the recommended minimum system requirements for Vista Premium; (b) 

the 1 GB of memory in its Defective Notebooks was shared with graphics memory leaving 

insufficient memory to run Vista Premium; (c) its Defective Notebooks could not effectively and 

adequately run with Vista Premium; and (d) its Defective Notebooks running Vista Premium 

would experience serious problems, including, but not limited to, freezing during use, crashing, 

requiring frequent restarts, and experiencing slow load times, well before their warranted or 

expected useful life.  Each of these material omissions that were contrary to Acer's affirmative 

representations regarding the quality and nature of the Defective Notebooks.   

170. The aforementioned conducted violated the Unfair Competition Law by 

breaching the express warranty provide to the Plaintiffs and the Class with the Defective 

Notebooks.   

171. Acer disseminated unfair, deceptive, untrue and/or misleading 

advertising in violation of the Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq., 

when it misrepresented, failed to disclose and/or concealed the true defective nature of the Acer 

notebooks in its advertising, marketing, and other broadly disseminated representations. 

172. Acer's above-described conduct constitutes “unfair” business practices 

within the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law insofar as Acer's business practices alleged 
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herein are immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and/or substantially injurious to 

consumers.  

173. Acer’s above-described conduct constitutes “fraudulent” business 

practices within the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law insofar as Acer's business practices 

alleged herein are likely to deceive members of the public.  

174. These above-described unfair and fraudulent business practices and 

false and misleading advertising by Acer present an ongoing threat to Plaintiffs and the Class.  

Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that Acer has systematically perpetrated 

deceptive and unfair practices upon members of the public and have intentionally deceived 

Plaintiffs and the Class.   

175. In addition, the use of media to promote the sale of Defective 

Notebooks through false and deceptive representations constitutes unfair competition and unfair, 

deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising within the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law. 

176. Acer further violated the Unfair Competition Law by engaging in 

unlawful conduct, including but not limited to, failing to comply with the Magnuson and Moss 

Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2301 et seq.), 

177. As a direct and proximate result of Acer’s violation of the Unfair 

Competition Law, Plaintiffs and the Class Members have suffered harm in that they, would not 

have purchased or would have paid less for the Defective Notebooks if Plaintiffs and the Class 

had known of the notebook's defective nature. 

178. As a direct and proximate result of Acer’s violation of the Unfair 

Competition Law, Plaintiffs and the Class Members have suffered harm in that they purchased 

Acer Defective Notebooks that will not run properly and have incurred or will be required to 

incur costs to replace or repair their Defective Notebooks.   

179. As a direct and proximate result of Acer’s violation of the Bus. & Prof. 

Code §§ 17200 et seq., Acer has been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class 

and should be required to make restitution to Plaintiffs and the Class Members or make 

restitutionary disgorgement of its ill-gotten profits pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203. 
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180. The refusal to pay for additional RAM to fix the Defective Notebooks, 

continuing sale of the Defective Notebooks, and continuing misrepresentations in connection with 

the sale, advertisement and distribution of the Defective Notebooks constitute ongoing violations 

of Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq., and justifies an issuance of an injunction requiring Acer to 

act in accordance with the law.  All remedies are cumulative pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 

17205. 

181. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, 

demand judgment against Acer for injunctive relief in the form of restitution, and/or restitutionary 

disgorgement, and/or injunctive relief in the form of replacement of the Defective Notebooks, and 

an award of attorneys’ fees. 

182. Plaintiffs and Members of the Class seek to enjoin Acer from engaging 

in these wrongful practices as alleged herein, in the future.  There is no other adequate remedy at 

law and if an injunction is not ordered, Plaintiffs and the Class will suffer irreparable harm and/or 

injury. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, request the 

Court enter judgment against Acer, as follows: 

a. An order certifying the proposed Class, designating Plaintiffs as the 

named representatives of the Class, and designating the undersigned as 

Class Counsel;  

b. A declaration that Acer is financially responsible for notifying all Class 

Members of the problems with Acer Defective Notebooks; 

c. An order enjoining Acer from further deceptive advertising, marketing, 

distribution, and sales practices with respect to Acer Notebooks and to 

either add the RAM necessary for the Notebook to run properly with 

the version of Vista on Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ Notebooks, or to 

Case3:09-cv-01314-JSW   Document130    Filed03/25/11   Page34 of 52

SA34



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

825092.1 - 35 -  
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT  

 

replace their Notebook with a Notebook that has the necessary RAM to 

run properly; 

d. An award to Plaintiffs and the Class of compensatory, exemplary, and 

statutory damages, including interest thereon, in an amount to be 

proven at trial; 

e. An order requiring the restitution and restitutionary disgorgement to the 

Class of all profits unlawfully obtained by Acer; 

f. An award of attorneys’ fees and costs, as allowed by law; 

g. An award of pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by 

law;  

h. For leave to amend the Complaint to conform to the evidence produced 

at trial; and 

i. Such other or further relief as may be appropriate under the 

circumstances. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury of any and all issues in this action so triable. 

 
 
DATED this 25th day of March, 2011. __________/s__________________________ 

Daniel L. Warshaw (185365) 
dwarshaw@pswplaw.com 
Bobby Pouya (245527) 
bpouya@pswplaw.com 
Pearson, Simon, Warshaw & Penny, LLP 
15165 Ventura Boulevard. Suite 400 
Sherman Oaks, CA 91403 
Telephone:     (818) 788-8300 
Facsimile:      (818) 788-8104 
 
Michael P. Lehmann (77152) 
mlehmann@hausfeldllp.com 
Hausfeld, LLP  
44 Montgomery Street, Suite 3400  
San Francisco, CA  94104  
Telephone:      (415) 633-1908  
Facsimile:       (415) 693-0770   
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Richard S. Lewis* 
rlewis@hausfeldllp.com 
James J. Pizzirusso* 
jpizzirusso@hausfeldllp.com 
Melinda Coolidge* 
mcoolidge@hausfeldllp.com 
Hausfeld LLP 
1700 K Street NW 
Washington, DC  20006 
Telephone: (202) 540-7200 
Facsimile: (202) 540-7201 
 
Jori Bloom Naegele* 
jbnaegele@gmail.com 
Robert D. Gary*  
rdgary@gmail.com 
Gary, Naegele & Theado, LLC 
446 Broadway Ave. 
Lorain, OH  44052-1740 
Telephone: (440) 244-4809 
Facsimile: (440) 244-3462 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class 
 
* Admitted to practice pro hac vice  
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